
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.:  10-cv-03135-RPM-MJW

TIMOTHY P. FOX,
JON JAIME LEWIS,
JULIE REISKIN, and
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit corporation,

Plaintiff,

v.

MORREALE HOTELS, LLC., a Colorado limited liability company, and
SKETCH RESTAURANT, LLC d/b/a EL DIABLO, a Colorado limited liability company, 

Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                            

PLAINTIFFS’ REPLY MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR LEAVE TO
FILE SUPPLEMENTAL AND THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT

                                                                                                                                                            

Plaintiffs, by and through the undersigned counsel, hereby submit this Reply Brief in

Support of Motion for Leave to File Supplemental and Third Amended Complaint.

INTRODUCTION

After completion of an inspection of the El Diablo restaurant pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.

34, Plaintiffs filed their motion for leave to file a supplemental and third amended complaint (the

“Motion”) and (the “Third Complaint”).  That complaint clears up allegations raised in the

previous complaint based on information obtained in discovery, including during the inspection,

and identifies with particularity the altered elements in the El Diablo restaurant Plaintiffs allege

are not in compliance with Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §

12181 et seq.  Despite requesting Plaintiffs to identify these specific alleged inaccessibility
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violations, Defendants oppose the Motion, claiming that Plaintiffs’ proposed amendment will

prejudice Defendants because it alleges access barriers beyond the inaccessible elevated dining

areas.  Defendants argue that the barriers alleged in the proposed amended complaint -- some in

restrooms (e.g., the height of the paper towel dispenser), some found in the outdoor areas, and

the fact that Defendants provide no accessible fixed seating in violation of 28 C.F.R., pt. 36, app.

C, Standards for Accessible Design (“Standards”) § 4.32 -- should not be addressed by this Court

in this case.  Instead, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs, each of whom require the use of a

wheelchair for mobility, must file a separate lawsuit for each and every barrier they encounter in

the restaurant each and every time they go to the restaurant even if they are aware now of the

existence of these barriers in El Diablo.  Defendants’ argument fails to comprehend the ADA’s

clear and sensible construction: A plaintiff need not go to El Diablo and experience

discriminatory barriers when that plaintiff is aware such barriers exist.  The ADA contemplates

that an individual may be deterred by the knowledge of discriminatory barriers.  Neither Title III

of the ADA nor Circuit Courts of Appeals interpreting the statute require multiple barrier-by-

barrier litigation in lawsuits challenging whether Defendants made alterations to a place of

public accommodation that are not accessible to customers who use wheelchairs.

Defendants also suffer no prejudice by Plaintiffs amending their complaint now to assert

all barriers about which they are aware and, therefore, challenge in this case.  Defendants waited

to serve any discovery requests until long after they could have, Defendants delayed and

prevented Plaintiffs from conducting an inspection until very recently, and Defendants had every

opportunity to find and designate an expert witness, if they chose to do so.  They did not, nor did
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Defendants request an extension of the deadline, and the deadline for designating experts has

now passed.

The Third Complaint simplifies this case, identifies all challenged accessibility barriers

for mobility impaired customers currently known to exist and eliminates unnecessary allegations

related to damages.  Plaintiffs voluntarily withdrew their state law damages claims for between

$50-$500 because such small damages claims were hardly worth pursuing when the point of this

case is to ensure the restaurant is made to comply with the ADA.1  For these reasons, this Court

should grant Plaintiffs’ motion and accept the Third Amended Complaint for filing.

ARGUMENT

I. Under the ADA, Plaintiffs Are Entitled to Challenge All Barriers To Accessibility
that Affect Them Based on Their Mobility Impairments.

Defendants were required to ensure that any alterations made to the restaurant were made

so that they were “readily accessible to and usable by” individuals who use wheelchairs.  42

U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2) (the “Alterations Statute”); 28 C.F.R. § 36.402 (“Alterations Regulation”); 

28 C.F.R., pt. 36, app. A § 4.1.6 (“1991 DOJ Guidelines” promulgated by the U.S. Department

of Justice).  To implement the Alterations Statute, this court is authorized to order injunctive

relief “to any person who is being subjected to discrimination on the basis of disability in

violation of [Title III] or who has reasonable grounds for believing that such person is about to

be subjected to discrimination in violation of section 12183 of [Title III]”).  42 U.S.C. §

12188(a)(1); Steger v. Franco, Inc., 228 F.3d 889, 894 (8th Cir. 2000); Parr v. L&L Drive-Inn

1  See Notice of Voluntary Dismissal of Second Claim for Relief Pursuant to Fed R. Civ.
P. 41(a)(1)(A)(i) (doc. # 97, filed Aug. 11, 2011).
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Restaurant, 96 F. Supp. 2d 1065, 1080-1 (D. Haw. 2000) (“This court is ‘reluctant to embrace a

rule of standing that would allow an alleged wrongdoer to evade the court's jurisdiction so long

as he does not injure the same person twice’  . . .  Plaintiff should not be required to encounter

every barrier seriatim . . . to obtain effective relief.”); Doran v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 524 F.3d 1034,

1047 (9th Cir. 2008) (“An ADA plaintiff who has Article III standing as a result of at least one

barrier at a place of public accommodation may, in one suit, permissibly challenge all barriers in

that public accommodation that are related to his or her specific disability.”); see also Tyler v.

City of Manhattan, 849 F. Supp. 1429, 1441 n. 20 (D. Kan.1994) (noting that with respect to the

ADA, courts have a “duty to construe remedial legislation liberally to effectuate its purpose.”). 

“[U]nder the ADA, once a plaintiff has actually become aware of discriminatory

conditions existing at a public accommodation, and is thereby deterred from visiting or

patronizing that accommodation, the plaintiff has suffered an injury.”  Pickern v. Holiday

Quality Foods Inc., 293 F.3d 1133, 1136-7 (9th Cir. 2002) (citing Davoll v. Webb, 194 F.3d

1116, 1132–33 (10th Cir.1999) (disabled employee not required to initiate interactive process

leading to reasonable accommodation where employer has made clear it will not engage in the

interactive process).  “So long as the discriminatory conditions continue, and so long as a

plaintiff is aware of them and remains deterred, the injury under the ADA continues.”  Id.

Title III of the ADA specifically contemplates and rejects the exact argument Defendants

are making in this case and specifically contemplates the type of amendment Plaintiffs seek in

this case.  “Nothing in [Title III] shall require a person with a disability to engage in a futile

gesture if such person has actual notice that a person or organization covered by this subchapter
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does not intend to comply with its provisions.”  42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(1).  “Although plaintiffs

need not engage in the ‘futile gesture’ of visiting a building containing known barriers that the

owner has no intention of remedying, see 42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(1), they must at least prove

knowledge of the barriers and that they would visit the building in the imminent future but for

those barriers.”  Steger, 228 F.3d at 892.

Plaintiffs have alleged that they each experienced barriers to accessibility at El Diablo

and that they have been deterred from returning.  In the course of this case and during discovery,

Plaintiffs and their counsel have become aware of additional barriers to accessibility for

individuals who use wheelchairs that also deter them from wanting to return.  Each of the

barriers that exist at El Diablo for customers who use wheelchairs can and should be addressed

in this lawsuit now.

II. Defendants Will Not Be Prejudiced By And Will Actually Benefit From Addressing
All Barriers to Accessibility for Mobility Impaired Customers in One Case.

A. Plaintiffs Conducted Discovery in a Timely Fashion and Amended the
Complaint Accordingly.

Defendants’ characterization of Plaintiffs’ Motion as occurring during the “eleventh

hour” of this litigation is inaccurate.  As set forth in Plaintiffs’ Motion, they requested a Rule 34

inspection of the restaurant early in the case.  Motion at 4.  Plaintiffs conducted that inspection at

the earliest possible time after this Court ordered the inspection take place and once Defendants

agreed to arrange for it.  As a result, Plaintiffs learned of some additional barriers to access that

impact customers who use wheelchairs.  In Defendants’ incessant effort to paint Plaintiffs as

“serial litigants,” “intent on continuing their effort to drive up the cost of this litigation,”
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Defendants fail to acknowledge it was Plaintiffs, not defendants, who sought a stay in this case

pending resolution of the motion for partial summary judgment.  See discussion in Motion at 3. 

Defendants opposed that motion.  Plaintiffs do believe the elimination of the inaccessibility of

the raised seating platforms is a key component in bringing the restaurant into compliance, but

these inaccessible dining areas are not the only barriers.  The rest are identified in the Third

Amended Complaint.

As set forth in Plaintiffs’ Motion, this Court ordered Defendants to permit the restaurant

inspection, including all public areas, see Order (doc. #98, entered Aug. 12, 2011) (“inspection

may include the two raised dining areas, the first floor/main floor/bar area, the outside

patio/dining area, and the restrooms,” but not the kitchen or business office).  Plaintiffs

conducted that inspection and promptly filed their motion to amend.

Therefore, each of the alleged barriers should be addressed by this Court at this time.

B. Defendants Had Every Opportunity to Obtain and Designate an Expert
Witness and Cannot Claim Prejudice for Their Failure to Do So.

Defendants now complain that they need an expert witness in this case based on the

barriers Plaintiffs allege in the amended complaint.  First, Defendants are incorrect and have a

fundamental misunderstanding of the applicable law in this case.  This case involves the

Alterations Statute and its regulations, not the rules applicable to existing, unaltered facilities. 

All parties agree this is the standard.  See Def. Mem. Opp. M. Partial Summ. J. (doc. #100, filed

Aug. 15, 2011) at 3 (admitting Defendants contracted to have alterations made to the restaurant

space).  There are two very separate requirements under the ADA, depending upon whether a
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public accommodation is an “existing facility” that has not been altered or if it is an “alteration.” 

Once an alteration occurs, the altered portion of a building must be “readily accessible to and

usable by” customers who use wheelchairs.  Alterations Statute; Alterations Regulation; 1991

DOJ Standards.  The only defense in alterations is “feasibility.”  Alterations must be made

accessible unless doing so would be virtually impossible.  28 C.F.R. § 36.402(c).  Defendants

have provided no evidence in this case that the alterations they made could not have been

brought into full compliance with new construction standards; they simply have argued

incorrectly that a misinterpreted provision of the ADAAG trumps the entirety of the Alterations

Statute and its implementing regulations.  Compare Pl. Mtn. Par. Sum Judg. (doc. # 48, filed

June 21, 2011) with Def. Mtn. Par. Sum. Judg. (doc. # 99, filed Aug. 15, 2011).

Early in this case, Defendants raised certain affirmative defenses indicating they might be

arguing it was an existing facility, subject to different defenses.  See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. §

12182(b)(2)(A)(iv).  Defendants have provided no evidence that it was not possible for them to

make the alterations accessible.  There is no need for Defendants to have an expert in this case to

tell the Court the correct legal standard to apply.

In any event, the expert witness deadline passed.  See Order (doc. #110, entered Aug. 23,

2011).  Defendants did not move for an extension.  Therefore, this argument has been rendered

moot.

C. Defendants’ “Solution” to Preventing Alleged Prejudice In This Case Does
Not Make Sense.

Defendants argue Plaintiffs should not address alleged barriers that exist in their altered
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restaurant because some of those barriers became known after the original complaint was filed,

including during the inspection.  Defendants assert each person who uses a wheelchair should be

required to address only those barriers discovered during the initial restaurant visit and, if an

additional barrier is discovered later, that person must file a separate lawsuit to address that

barrier later.  This is not what the ADA requires and would be an enormous waste of judicial

resources.  The cases would most likely need to be joined anyway, and, if not, could lead to

numerous conflicting court decisions regarding application of the Alterations Statute to barriers in

the same restaurant.

Such a piecemeal approach to ADA enforcement would increase time and cost for the

parties and belies the purposes of the ADA, which include “(1) provid[ing] a clear and

comprehensive national mandate for the elimination of discrimination against individuals with

disabilities;” “(2) provid[ing] clear, strong, consistent, enforceable standards addressing

discrimination against individuals with disabilities;” “(3) ensur[ing] that the Federal Government

plays a central role in enforcing the standards established in this chapter on behalf of individuals

with disabilities;” . . . and “(4) invok[ing] the sweep of congressional authority, including the

power to enforce the fourteenth amendment and to regulate commerce, in order to address the

major areas of discrimination faced day-to-day by people with disabilities.”  42 U.S.C. §

12101(b).

Defendants’ alterations in its restaurant were all required to be accessible when the

restaurant opened to the public.  This includes the raised seating areas and all other altered areas

now identified in the Third Complaint.  It does not make sense why Defendants would challenge
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Plaintiffs’ concretely identifying what barriers to accessibility are at issue in this case. 

Defendants complained in this case Plaintiffs had not made clear to them what barriers to

accessibility they were challenging.  See Def. Mem. Opp. Mot. to Compel (doc. #111, filed Aug.

29, 2011) at 5-6 (“more than eight months after they filed their Complaint, plaintiffs have not yet

identified any . . . barriers”).  Plaintiffs disagree, but any doubt as to what barriers are being

challenged in this case is resolved by the latest Third Complaint, which identifies all barriers

known to Plaintiffs that affect their mobility disabilities.  See Doran, 524 F.3d at 1043-4

(knowledge of barriers obtained through discovery after filing a complaint “constitute the factual

underpinnings of a single legal injury, namely, the failure to remove architectural barriers in

violation of the ADA”); Pickern, 203 F.3d at 1138.

Defendants’ view suggests that a person who uses a wheelchair entering a restaurant for

the first time to have dinner seeking to dine there should come armed with a tape measure, a level,

a camera, and other equipment so the individual can run about the restaurant gathering evidence

of all possible ADA violations.  Not only is this ludicrous for a person who simply wants to have

dinner to have to do, but it ignores that barriers may exist in a restaurant that should have been

altered in compliance with the ADA that may not have been available at the time the individual

who uses a wheelchair went to the restaurant.  One such example is present here: When Plaintiff

Fox went to the restaurant, for example, he believes the patio area was not in existence. 

Defendants again fundamentally misunderstand the broad remedial purposes of the ADA.

Obviously, requiring a person who uses a wheelchair to file a separate lawsuit with respect to

each barrier encountered would strain the parties’ and the court’s resources.  See Steger, 228 F.3d
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894.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Leave to File Supplemental and Third Amended Complaint, accept the Supplemental and Third

Amended Complaint (doc. #113-1, Aug. 31, 2011) for filing, and any other relief that this Court

deems necessary, proper and just.

Dated: September 26, 2011 Respectfully submitted,

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION
LEGAL PROGRAM

 /s/ Kevin W. Williams                                                 
Kevin W. Williams
Andrew C. Montoya
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Telephone:  (303) 839-1775
Facsimile: (303) 839-1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org

                                            
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on September 26, 2011, a copy of the foregoing document with the
Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will provide electronic service to the following:

Philip L. Gordon,
Jack D. Patten, III
pgordon@littler.com
jpatten@littler.com

 /s/ Briana McCarten                                           
Briana McCarten, Legal Program Assistant
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
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